1978

John Price Associates, Inc, A Corporation v. Richard J. Davis, And Connie M. Davis : Brief of Defendants-Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF CASE

On June 16, 1975 the Plaintiff contractor commenced an action in Third Judicial District Court, No. 228,634, against the Defendant owners seeking to reduce to judgment a promissory note dated September 9, 1974 in the principal sum of \$10,708.39 together with interest thereon at the rate of 15% per annum until paid. The Defendants answered said complaint, and filed a separate counterclaim against the Plaintiff alleging that the Plaintiff contractor had failed to timely complete its construction contract with the Defendant owners, thus causing the owners to lose their long term financing upon the nursing home being constructed. The Defendant owners sought delay damages for such unjustified delays, together with compensatory damages.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Plaintiff-Respondent contractor brought a motion for summary judgment on its promissory note before the Law and Motion Division of the Third Judicial District Court, Judge David B. Dee, presiding, on September 7, 1977, some days preceeding jury trial of the matter. The court granted judgment against the Defendant-Appellants and in favor of the Plaintiff-Respondent upon the promissory note in the sum of \$10,708.39 together with interest from September 9, 1974 to the date of summary judgment in the sum of \$3,900.77. Further hearing on the matter of attorney fees was held on September 20, 1977, one day before trial, and the law and motion division of the Third Judicial District Court awarded the Plaintiff-Respondent \$4,600.00 attorney fees, together with an additional \$300.00 attorney fees awarded November 23, 1976, for a total of \$4,900.00 attorney fees.

At trial on September 21, 1977, while only partially into the trial, and upon motion of the Plaintiff-Respondent, the lower trial court granted Plaintiff-Respondent's motion for a directed verdict in favor of Plaintiff-Respondent and against the Defendants-Appellants on their counterclaim for damages arising from the alleged delay in completion of the construction contract which was the subject matter of the lawsuit.

It is from the lower court's order granting a directed verdict to the Plaintiff-Respondent upon Defendants-Appellants' counterclaim that Appellants appeal.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Defendants-Appellants ask this court to reverse the order of the lower court granting a directed verdict on Defendants-Appellants' counterclaim against the Plaintiff-Respondent, and to direct the lower court to try the issues related to the claims contained in Defendants-Appellants' counterclaim.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Defendants-Appellants (hereafter called the "owners"), entered into a construction contract with the Plaintiff-Respondent (hereafter called the "contractor"), on or about August 28, 1972 for the construction of a nursing home to be located at 4600 South Highland Drive, in Salt Lake City, Utah 84117 for a sum certain in the amount of \$720,000.00. The contract called for commencement of the work within fifteen days after completion of the working drawings, or upon mutual consent, but in no case later than October 15, 1972. Completion was scheduled, under the terms of the contract for June 15, 1972.

The owners obtained construction financing from Commercial Security Bank in the amount of \$800,000.00, of which \$710,000.00 was earmarked for the contractor. The owners agreed to execute a promissory note for the \$10,000.00 balance, and to pay in accordance with the terms of the contract.

There was some delay in obtaining the completed plans for the nursing home from the architect, and they were not received until some time in the latter part of December, 1972. There is yet an unresolved question of fact as to whether or not the delay was the fault of the contractor or the owner.

In any event change order number one to the original contract was executed between the parties on or about January 3, 1973 extending the completion date of the contract from June 15, 1973 to August 1, 1973, an extension of some 47 days.

Actual construction on the project did not productively begin until the early spring of 1973, and then there were several delays in construction, so that by August 1, 1973 the project was only about 50% complete.

The contractor sought a further extension for completion of the contract from the owners on August 21, 1973, and at a meeting held between the parties on August 27, 1973 the owners agreed to extend the time for completion to and through November 30, 1973, with the contractor's agreement to pay Commercial Security Bank an extension fee, for extending the interim financing the additional time.

At the same time, the parties agreed that the granting of the extension in no way would waive any claim which the owners had against the contractor by reason of the contractor's failure to complete the project by August 1, 1973. This was embodied in change order number two.

When November 30, 1973 came and passed it was apparent to the contractor that they would not be able to complete the project by that date; hence the contractor sought a third extension of time in which to complete the contract, designated as change order number 3. The contractor wished to extend the contract completion date to December 30, 1977. The owners refused to grant any further extensions of time in which to complete the contract and thus this change order was never signed by the owners.

A Certificate of Occupancy was issued upon the premises on December 26, 1973 by Salt Lake County, at the request of the contractor, and a certificate of substantial completion was executed by the architect and the contractor on January 14, 1974, and was countersigned by the owner on March 18, 1974. Certain items still remained to be completed, but were attached to the certificate as items yet to be completed.

On March 1, 1974 a document prepared by the contractor and sent to the owners, designated as "change order number 4" was executed by the owner after having been previously executed by the contractor. It should be noted that it is this so-called "change order" which gives rise to the legal confrontation between the parties on the Defendant-Appellants' counterclaim.

The State Fire Marshall had directed the owners to change certain of the panic hardware on the doors so as to meet state fire safety requirements. These changes had not been contemplated by the architect, and as such, were not in the original plans. The additional cost to the owners was \$2,282.00. Negotiations were made with the contractor to install the new panic hardware for that price.

The contractor prepared the contract to install the additional hardware on the doors, and sent it to the owners shortly after February 19, 1974. The contractor placed the contract on a change order form which purported to add this to the contract of August 28, 1972, and which purported to increase the contract time as necessary to complete this work.

On or about September 12, 1974 the contractor was paid off with a \$10,461.00 payment from Commercial Security Bank on the construction loan, and on or about September 10, 1974 a

promissory note was executed by the owners in favor of the contract for the remainder of \$10,708.39.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT'S ORDER FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT IN FAVOR OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT AND AGAINST THE DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS IS IN ERROR AND IS CONTRARY TO LAW.

After extensive argument, (T.26-55 D) and discussion in judge's chambers, the Plaintiff-Respondent was permitted to move the court for an order directing a verdict in favor of the Plaintiff (T. 54:10). Upon Plaintiff's motion, the court directed a verdict in favor of the Plaintiff-Respondent and against the Defendants-Appellants (T. 54:19). While the reasoning of the court in awarding the directed verdict is not entirely clear from the transcript, it can be pieced together from the argument of counsel.

Plaintiff's counsel argued that the contract was fully paid by a payment from the Defendants to the Plaintiff on or about September 14, 1974. Plaintiff further argued that paragraph 17.4 of the AIA construction contract provided as follows:

"The making of final payment shall constitute a waiver of all claims by the owner except those arising from" and the four exceptions, none of which are applicable to this lawsuit." (T. 29: 4, 12-14)

The trial court agreed with the argument of Plaintiff's counsel and concluded that the Defendant, by making final payment to the Plaintiff, waived any claim they may have had for damages due to delay.

The trial court judge further reasoned that the order directing verdict in favor of the Plaintiff should further be granted because change order number four supersedes all of the provisions of previous change orders, including change order number two.

It is in both of these assumptions as to the state of the law that the trial court erred.

All parties concur that the contract, and change orders numbers 1, 2 and 4 were executed by the parties. The question for this court to determine is their legal effect.

Pursuant to the terms of the contract, as expanded by change orders one and two, the contractor had until November 30, 1973 in which to complete the work. Paragraph 16.1 of the contract made time of the essence.

Change Order Number Two also provided as follows:

"It is expressly understood and agreed that by execution of this Change Order No. 2, owners in no way waive any claim which they may have against contractor by reason of contractor's failure to complete the project on or before August 1, 1973."

By this paragraph, which is clear on its face, the parties agreed that even though the completion date of the contract was extended beyond August 1, 1977, that the owners were reserving their right to make a claim against the contractor for his failure to complete the contract by August 1, 1977.

The problem which faced the trial court and one which this court is asked to resolve upon appeal, is what effect the subsequent change order number four had upon this provision, and further, what effect final payment in September, 1974 had upon this provision.

Case law is absolutely clear that parties to a written contract may modify, waive, or make new terms to it regardless of the provisions in such contract to the contrary. Massey v. Ferguson, Inc., (Utah, 1962), 13 U 2nd 142, 369 P 2nd 296. Davis v. Payne & Day, Inc., 10 U 2nd 53, 348 P 2nd 337.

In the case at bar both the owner and the contractor were free to alter the provisions of the original contract dated August 28, 1972, or to waive some of the terms of that contract, or to add new provisions to that contract, as they saw fit, regardless of the terms of the original contract to the contrary. Cheney v. Rucker, 14 U 2nd 205, 381 P 2nd 86.

There can be little question that change orders numbers one, two and four, if all are deemed to be additions to the original contract of August 28, 1972, thus modified that contract to some extent. They were alterations to the contract. An alteration is a modification or change in one or more respects which introduces new elements into the details of the contract, or cancels some of them, but leaves the general purposes and effect of the original contract undisturbed. Grant v. Aero-draulics Co., 91 C.A. 2nd 68, 204 P 2nd 683.

Paragraph 8.1 of the original contract clearly contemplate that written changes to the original contract may occur, and incorporates written change orders into the original contract. Case law and the contract itself thus clearly establish the right of the owner and the contractor to alter, modify, or waive terms and conditions of the original contract of August 28, 1972.

One is then led to the question of what the legal effect is when a subsequent modification, alteration or waiver is made to a primary contract.

The courts have held that where a building and construction contract is modified by change orders, such modifications or variations from the original contract do not abrogate the original contract, or the rights and obligations of the parties under the original contract, but that the original contract remains in force and effect, to the extent that it is not modified or altered by the subsequent modifications, alterations, or waivers. See 17A, CJS, Contracts, §379, at page 444.

Thus, a written agreement is not superseded or invalidated by a subsequent integration or alteration relating to the same subject matter, if the subsequent agreement is not inconsistent with the original contract, and is made for a separate consideration. See 17A, CJS, Contracts, §382, at page 452. To the extent the the subsequent modification or alteration is inconsistent with the first contract into which it is integrated, the second contract or alteration will supersede or modify the first. Ragan v. Schreffler, 306 SW 2nd 494. And a subsequent modification or alteration, or waiver, will supersede inconsistent portions of the original contract even though there is no express provision in the original contract, or the alteration, that such will be the legal effect. Decca Records, Inc. v. Republic Recording Co., 235 F 2nd 360.

In summary, then, where an alteration, modification, or waiver does not expressly provide whether and to what extent it is intended to operate in discharge or substitution of the first

contract, the two contracts must be interpreted together and insofar as they are inconsistent, the alteration, modification or waiver will prevail; and the original contract, insofar as it is consistent with the purposes and intent of the parties, and with the alterations, modifications or waivers, will be enforced. Dill v. Poindexter Tile Co. (Mo. App., 1970), 451 SW 2nd 365.

To the extent that change orders one, two and four altered, modified, or waived the conditions set forth in the contract of August 28, 1972, the original contract was superseded to that extent. In all other respects; however, the original contract remained the same, and is enforceable.

As to change order number one, the completion date was amended, or altered, and extended from June 15, 1973 to August 1, 1973, an extension of some 47 days.

By change order number two, the completion date was again altered, and extended from August 1, 1973 to November 30, 1973. But crucial to this argument, is that by change order number two the parties expressly understood and agreed that the contractor agreed to waive a defense he might otherwise have had against the owner. The owner and the contractor agreed on August 27, 1973, some 27 days after the August 1, 1973 deadline, that the owner could retain its claim, or could reserve its claim, against the contractor for the contractor's failure to complete the contract by August 1, 1973, and this despite the fact that the contractor would be allowed to finish the work.

Ordinarily, the owner, by permitting the contractor to continue with completion of the work after the contractor's delay in performance, would have constituted a legal waiver on the part of the owner to make a claim against the contractor for delay damages. 13 Am. Jur. 2nd, Building and Construction Contracts, §53, at page 57. In this case, the owners specifically reserved to themselves the right to make a claim against the contractor for delay damages, even though the contractor was permitted to complete the work.

It is clear that the parties intended by change order number two to separate the issues of completion date by the contractor, and the reservation of a claim by the owner to make a claim for delay damages. If the two issues are separate and distinct, so far as the parties were concerned, then it is immaterial how long the contractor was given to complete the project. Counsel for the contractor seems to recognize this assertion when he stated in his argument for a directed verdict that the provisions of change order number two would still be alive, except for the payoff by the owners of the contract on September 12, 1974. (T. Dern, 46: 25-27)

That the parties intended the issues of owners' claim for delay damages to be distinctly separate from date of completion, is further shown by the fact that the parties entered into this agreement on August 27, 1973, some 27 days after the default of the contractor in the completion date. The contractor, knowing it was in default, still agreed to be liable to the owner for delay damages, while at the same time seeking an extension in which to complete the contract.

The crux of the appeal is then, not whether change order number four, which granted an extension of time as was reasonably necessary to complete the installation of the panic hardware, superseded the owner's reservation of a claim against the contractor for delay damages, since such clearly was not the intention of the parties, but rather, it is whether the reservation of owners' claim against the contractor for delay damages was extinguished by the final payment on the contract on September 12, 1974.

Section 17.4 of the contract provides that final payment by the owner does constitute a waiver of all claims by the owner against the contractor, with four exceptions, none of which probably apply here. By the execution of change order number two, however, the contractor agreed to a fifth exception, that could not be extinguished by final payment by the owners. With the execution of change order number two the parties understood and agreed that the owner could maintain an action against the contractor for delay damages for the contractor's failure to complete the project by August 1, 1973, without regard to when the contractor actually completed the job. In fact the parties anticipated that the contractor would complete the work, and that he would be entitled to his pay under the terms of the contract when he did complete the project. In view of this anticipation, or perhaps, in spite of it, the parties still agreed that the owner could maintain an action for delay damages against the contractor for delay damages.

If this be the case, then paragraph 17.4 of the original

contract was in fact modified or altered. A new exception must necessarily be inferred, to wit: The parties agreed that the owner could maintain an action against the contractor for delay damages even though the contractor completed the work, and made a claim for final payment under the contract, and was paid.

This has to be the logical conclusion of the intention of the parties when they executed change order number two. To rule otherwise would be to misconstrue the natural intention of the parties. If the parties had intended final payment to cut off the owners' rights to make claim against the owner for delay damages, they would have said so in change order number two, or they would have said that the final payment would be adjusted by an appropriate reduction for owners' claims for delay damages against the contractor. This was not done because the parties clearly kept the issue of completion, and thus demand for payment under the contract, and the issue of a claim for delay damages separate and distinct.

Whether the owners payment of the contract in full on or about September 12, 1974 constituted a waiver to any claim they may have had against the contractor for delay damages will depend upon this court's interpretation of the legal effect of change order number two upon section 17.4 of the original contract.

In many, many cases, the courts have held that the mere acceptance of work by the contractee, and payment therefor did not constitute a waiver on the contractee's part to claim delay damages against the contractor. This was the ruling, for example, in El Paso & S.W. R. Co. v. Harris, (Tex. Civ. App.), 110 SW 145, 115 A.R. 92, 93, where the court held that a railroad

construction contractor's acceptance of a voucher for work performed did not preclude recovery of damages for delay, such damages not being included in the terms of the voucher.

In Selden Breech Construction Company v. University of Michigan, (D.C., 1921) 274 F. 982, the court held that the acceptance by a contractor of an extension of time in which to complete work from his subcontractor was not a waiver of the contractor's right to recover damages from the subcontractor for the subcontractor's delay in performance. See also, Edge Moor Iron Co. v. U.S. (1925), 61 Ct. Cl. (F) 392.

In Pneumatic Gun-Carriage and Powder Co. v. U.S. (1901) 36 Ct. Cl (F) 71, a contractee was held not to have waived his right to recover damages against the contractor for delay damages by paying the amount due under the contract and by executing a release in full, since the amount due under the contract was not in dispute.

In building construction projects generally, the contractee has generally been held not to have waived his right to recover delay damages against the contractor resulting from the default of the contractor, where the contractor proceeds with the work after default where the contractee protests the delay. 115 ALR 90

It is evident that by change order number two, the owners preserved unto themselves an absolute, and not a conditional right, to make a claim against the contractor for delay damages. That right could not be abrogated, either by change order number four, or by section 17.4 of the contract, which it superseded, to the extent that section 17.4 and the clause reserving unto the owners a claim against the contractor for delay damages in change order number two were inconsistent with each other.

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