1978

John Price Associates, Inc, A Corporation v.
Richard J. Davis, And Connie M. Davis : Brief of
Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

A. CHANGE ORDER NO. 4 SUPERSEDED CHANGE ORDER NO. 2. At page 7 of their brief, the Owners concede that Change Orders 1, 2 and 4 "were executed by the parties." Change Orders number 2 and 4 are the only ones pertinent to the issues now before the court.

At pages 8 through the first paragraph on page 10 of their brief, the Owners cite several authorities for the proposition that written subsequent amendments, alterations and/or modifications of a written contract and/or

written changes thereto, will supersede the earlier documents. The proposition is elementary and clearly supports the Contractor's contention that Change Order No. 4 superseded Change Order No. 2 to the extent that the provisions of both are inconsistent.

When the parties entered into the Contract on August 28, 1972, they agreed that:

"8.1 The Contract Documents consist of this Agreement (which includes the general conditions), Supplementary and other Conditions, the Drawings, the Specifications, all Addenda issued prior to the execution of this Agreement, all Amendments, Change Orders, and written interpretations of the Contract Documents issued by the Architect. These form the Contract and what is required by any one shall be as binding as if required by all. The intention of the Contract Documents is to include all labor, materials, equipment and other items as provided in paragraph 11.2 necessary for the proper execution and completion of the Work, and the terms and conditions of payment therefor, and also to include all Work which may be reasonably inferable from the Contract Documents as being necessary to produce the intended results.

8.3 The term "Work" as used in the Contract Documents includes all labor necessary to produce the construction required by the Contract Documents and all materials and equipment incorporated or to be incorporated in such construction. (Emphasis added) EX D-3, paragraphs 8.1 and 8.3.

From the foregoing, it is apparent that "Change Orders" were considered "Contract Documents" and were integrated into the "Contract." It is also clear that "Work" was a term of art when used in the Contract Documents which together formed the Contract.

The Contract also provided:

"16.2 If the Contractor is delayed at any time in the progress of the Work by changes ordered in the Work, by labor disputes, fire, unusual delay in transportation, unavoidable casualties, causes beyond the Contractor's control, or by any cause which the Architect may determine justifies the delay, then the Contract Time shall be extended by Change Order for such reasonable time as the Architect may determine.

. . . .

22.1 The Owner without invalidating the Contract may order Changes in the Work consisting of additions, deletions or modifications, the Contract Sum and the Contract Time being adjusted accordingly. All such Changes in the Work shall be authorized by written Change Order signed by the Owner or the Architect as his duly authorized agent.

22.2 The Contract Sum and the Contract Time may be changed only by Change Order." (Emphasis added) EX D-3, paragraphs 16.2, 22.1 and 22.2.

From the foregoing, it is apparent that "Contract Sum" and "Contract Time" were terms of art when

used in the Contract Documents, which Contract Documents included Change Orders.

On August 27, 1973, in Change Order No. 2, the Owners expressly reserved "any claim which they may have against Contractor by reason of Contractor's failure to complete the project on or before August 1, 1973." (Emphasis added). However, over six months later, on March 1, 1974, the Owners and their Architect agreed to Change Order No. 4 which expressly provided that "the Contract Time will be increased as necessary to complete the work." EX P-6. There can be no question but what Change Order No. 4 was an amendment as to both the Contract Sum and the Contract Time provided for in the Contract. This is clear from the fact that Change Order No. 4 expressly indicates that it is a Change Order with respect to a Contract dated August 28, 1972 for the "Davis Nursing Home" and that the original Contract Sum of \$720,000.00 would be increased to \$722,282.00.

The Owners argue that even though Change Order No. 4 changed the Contract, it did not supersede the express reservation of a potential claim provided for in Change Order No. 2. The obvious answer to that is that the Contractor simply cannot be held responsible for not

completing the Work on August 1, 1973 when the Owners contracted for additional labor and materials over six months later. Note that Change Order No. 4 did not merely extend the Contract Time as did Change Order No. 2, but Change Order No. 4 also obligated the Contractor to furnish additional labor and materials as well as obligated the Owners for an additional Contract Sum and enough additional Contract Time to complete the Work. In other words, the Work as contemplated by the original Contract was amended to include the additional work as contemplated by Change Order No. 4 and it was impossible for the Contractor, by August 1, 1973, to have done the Work as contemplated by the Contract Documents taken as a whole. Consequently, it does not make sense to say that any claim reserved by Change Order No. 2 would not be abrogated by Change Order No. 4. On the contrary, it does not make sense any other way. How can the Owners be allowed on the one hand to collect damages from the Contractor for failure to complete the Work by August 1, 1973 and at the same time obligate the Contractor to include in that Work additional labor and materials that were not even ordered until more than six months later. Remember, "Work" has a well defined meaning in the Contract and Change Order No. 4, and there is nothing in Change Order No. 2 that changes that meaning.

Not only did the Owners agree to Change Order No. 4, but a week later on March 8, 1974, the Owners executed a Certificate of Substantial Completion. EX P-7. Neither Change Order No. 4 nor the Certificate of Substantial Completion reserved in any way any claim in favor of the Owners based on the Contractor's failure to prosecute the Work to completion by August 1, 1973. Under such circumstances, the case law clearly establishes the proposition that the Owners waived their alleged claim. In Steenberg Construction Co. v. Prepakt Concrete Co., 381 F.2d 768 (10th Cir. 1967), the court had under consideration a subcontract with respect to construction of the earthen dam at Lost Creek, Utah. At the insistence of the subcontractor, the parties had negotiated an additional provision to the subcontract which stated: "Progress schedule date to be mutually agreed upon in writing..." The subcontractor contended that it was released from any of its obligations under the subcontract because the parties never did agree in writing to any progress schedule. However, Judge Murrah, writing for the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals, held that the subcontractor waived the requirement of a written work schedule by the subcontractor's subsequent execution of a performance bond and its oral agreement to

perform the subcontract pursuant to a work schedule not agreed to in writing. In the case at bar, there is also a contract modification insisted upon by the Owners (Change Order No. 2), but there is also the subsequent written modification agreed to by the parties (Change Order No. 4). If the oral agreement in Steenberg constituted a waiver, a fortiori, the Owners waived the subject claim by the written provisions of Change Order No. 4 and the Certificate of Substantial Completion.

Further, as late as 1974 in a case similar to the one now before the court, the Colorado Supreme Court has held in Rockwell v. Mountain View Electric Association, Inc., _____ CO._____, 521 P.2d 1272 (1974) that the execution of change orders can reasonably be considered acts inconsistent with an alleged intent to hold a contractor to the requirements of a provision requiring completion of a construction project by a time certain.

While the execution of Change Order No. 2 did not cause the Owners to waive any claim based on the Contractor's failure to complete the project by August 1, 1973, the execution of the subsequent documents surely constituted such a waiver. Accordingly, it would have

been a waste of time for the trial court to admit evidence before the jury with respect to whether the Contractor justifiably failed to complete the Work by August 1, 1973.

There are three errors in the Owners' brief which should be noted: (1) In the next to the last paragraph on page 7, the Owners indicate that the completion date was extended by Change Order No. 2 to a date beyond "August 1, 1977;" however, the date which appears twice in that paragraph should be "August 1, 1973." EX D-10; (2) in the next to the last paragraph on page 11, the Owners contend that the Contractor conceded at trial "that the provisions of Change Order Number Two would still be alive, except for the payoff by the Owners of the Contract on September 12, 1974;" however, a reading of all of the last three-quarters of page 46 of the trial transcript (although less than a complete transcript of all that was said), indicates that the Contractor made no such concession; and (3) in the last sentence of the last paragraph on page 11, the Owners stated: "the Contractor, knowing it was in default, still agreed to be liable to the Owner for delay damages, while at the same time seeking an extension in which to complete the Contract;" however, there is nothing in the record to

indicate that the Contractor admitted at any time that it was in default, nor is there anything in the record to indicate that the Contractor agreed to be liable to the Owners for delay damages, even though the Contractor did agree that as of August 27, 1973, the Owners had reserved any claim they "may" have had against the Contractor. EX D-10.

B. BY PAYMENT OF ALL SUMS DUE THE CONTRACTOR, THE OWNERS WAIVED ANY CLAIM THEY MAY HAVE HAD FOR UNSATISFACTORY PROSECUTION OF THE WORK. At page 12 of their brief, the Owners concede that paragraph 17.4 of the original Contract "provides that final payment by the Owner does constitute a waiver of all claims of the Owner against the Contractor, with four exceptions, none of which probably apply here." (Emphasis added). The Owners then contend that Change Order No. 2 constituted a "fifth exception" to the waiver provided for in paragraph 17.4.

Subsequent to August 27, 1973, the date of Change Order No. 2, the Owners agreed to the provisions of Change Order No. 4, EX P-6; the Certificate of Substantial Completion, EX P-7; the letter of September 4, 1974 from Owner, Richard J. Davis, to Commercial

Security Bank authorizing the bank to make final payment to the Contractor, EX P-8; and the letter of September 12, 1974 from Commercial Security Bank to the Contractor transmitting such final payment, EX P-9. However, there is nothing in any of such subsequent documents preserving any such fifth exception.

It is one thing to say that by entering into Change Order No. 2 that the Owners did not waive any claim they may have had for the Contractor's failure to complete the Work by August 1, 1973, and quite another thing to say that final payment over a year later and over nine months after the November 30, 1973 completion deadline of Change Order No. 2, and over six months after Change Order No. 4 and the Certificate of Substantial Completion, did not waive any such claim pursuant to the plain language of paragraph 17.4 of the Contract. Note that paragraph 17.4 says that final payment constitutes the waiver, and note also that Change Order No. 2 expressly provides that the construction lender would continue to disburse "funds for construction purposes per the terms and conditions of the Contract." (Emphasis added). There is nothing in Change Order No. 2 that indicates that paragraph 17.4 does not mean precisely what it says. This court has previously held that "no

damage" clauses in construction contracts (which clauses are more harsh than the waiver clause now under consideration) mean what they say and are enforceable. See Western Engineers, Inc. v. State Road Commission, 20 U.2d 294, 427 P.2d 216 (1968).

The applicable rule of law with respect to waiver is included in the following from Williston on Contracts:

" 'Where timely performance is of the essence of the contract, a party who does any act inconsistent with the supposition that he continues to hold the other party to his part of the agreement will be taken to have waived it altogether. When a specific time is fixed for the performance of a contract and is of the essence of the contract and it is not performed by that time, but the parties proceed with the performance of it after that time, the right to suddenly insist upon a forfeiture for failure to perform within the specified time will be deemed to have been waived and the time for performance will be deemed to have been extended for a reasonable time.' " 6 Williston, Contracts, §856 p. 232 (3d ed. 1962)

In the instant case, the execution and delivery of Change Order No. 4, the Certificate of Substantial Completion, the letter of September 4, 1974, and the letter and final payment of September 12, 1974, all constitute acts "inconsistent with the supposition that" the Owners continued to hold the Contractor to the August 1, 1973 completion date.

In light of the provisions of paragraph 17.4 of the Contract, final payment alone surely constituted the Owners' waiver. In Milaeger Well Drilling Co. v. Muskego Rendering Co., 1 Wis.2d 573, 85 N.W.2d 331 (1957), it was held that even a partial payment effectively waived unreserved claims known to the owner at the time of partial payment. Here, the Owners clearly knew about their alleged claim, but just as clearly made final payment on the Contract without any reservation of such claim.

Based upon the fact that the Owners made final payment on the Contract as provided in paragraph 17.4 thereof, such final payment clearly waived any claim the Owners may have had for the Contractor's unjustifiable failure to complete the project by August 1, 1973. Accordingly, the trial court was correct in ruling that evidence on that issue was irrelevant and immaterial.

POINT II

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO
TAX THE COSTS OF TAKING THE OWNERS'
DEPOSITIONS.

The Contractor is aware that in order to recover the costs of the Owners' depositions, the burden is upon the Contractor to establish that such depositions were necessary and reasonable and that whether that

burden was met was within the sound discretion of the lower court. First Security Bank of Utah, N.A. v. Wright, ___ U. ___, 521 P.2d 563 (1974). However, the Contractor contends that the lower court's Memorandum Decision on this issue was arbitrary or a clear abuse of the court's discretion.

The subject Memorandum Decision was not made until after the trial and judgment with respect to the Owners' Counterclaim, and the lower court's finding that the depositions were not used at trial is directly contrary to the trial transcript. The Owners' depositions were used at trial to rebut the Owners' contention that Owner, Richard J. Davis, was not acting for Owner, Connie M. Davis, with respect to the subject transaction.

The error of the lower court is further demonstrated by the fact that prior to the taking of the Owners' depositions, the Owners had taken the position under oath in affidavits and in answers to interrogatories that: (1) the Note had been signed under duress; and (2) that neither of the Owners had ever signed Change Order No. 4. Contrary to those assertions, the Owners' subsequent depositions make clear that the Note was not signed under duress and Owner, Richard J. Davis, did in fact sign Change Order No. 4. Further, even after the

taking of the Owners' depositions, Owner, Richard J. Davis, took the position under oath in a sworn affidavit that certain key provisions of Change Order No. 4 were not included in the Change Order when he signed it. However, that position is directly contrary to the deposition testimony of Owner, Connie M. Davis, when she stated under oath that the same key provisions were in Change Order No. 4 and were discussed between the Owners prior to the signing of such Change Order by Owner, Richard J. Davis.

Surely it must be conceded that the duress issue was material to the Contractor's recovery of judgment on the Note and that whether the Owners agreed to Change Order No. 4 was material to whether the Owners had waived the alleged cause of action described in their Counterclaim. In Lawson Supply Company v. General Plumbing and Heating, Inc., 27 U.2d 821, 493 P.2d 607 (1972), this court held that the costs of depositions may be taxed in a proper case and indicated that the test for such determination "is whether the deposition was necessarily obtained in the sense that the taking of the deposition and its general content were reasonably necessary for the development of the case in the light of the situation then existing." In

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